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Mercer councilman,265 actively promoted internal improvements,266 served
three terms as a Whig Congressman, served as a state judge,268 served one
year as the state treasurer,26 9 and was the Whig candidate for governor in
1841.270

Pearson and Stewart followed Banks into Whig politics. When Banks re-
signed from Congress, it was his former pupil Pearson who was chosen as
the Whig Congressman to take his place.27' During this time, Stewart
served in the Pennsylvania Senate.272 At the party nominating meeting in
1846, he was a member of the Democratic Whig Central Committee of Mer-
cer County.273 At that convention, the party's opposition to slavery was
reiterated.274 Subsequently, Pearson was elected to the state senate.275

In 1846, the Whigs nominated Pearson to the position of senatorial dele-
gate.276 The resolutions adopted at the nominating convention supported
free speech upon any subject and opposed the acquisition of any additional

265. J. WHITE, supra note 60, at 323.
266. Id. at 67.
267. He was elected to the Twenty-second, Twenty-third, and Twenty-fourth Congresses.

He served from March 4, 1831 until his resignation in 1836. BIOGRAPHICAL DIRECTORY OF
THE AMERICAN CONGRESS 1774-1971, at 125 (1971) [hereinafter BIOGRAPHICAL DIREC-
TORY].

Richard C. Singer, B.A. 1978, George Washington University, J.D. 1983, The University of
Akron School of Law, searched the Congressional Globe for the relevant time period and found
no speeches by Congressman Banks. It was discovered, however, that Banks introduced a
memorial signed by the citizens of West Greenville, Mercer County, Pennsylvania, "praying
that a law may be passed abolishing slavery and the slave trade in the District of Columbia and
the Territories." CONG. GLOBE, 23rd Cong., 2d Sess. 317 (1835). Whether this represented
Mr. Bank's personal view or was simply providing a "service" for his constituents is not
known.

268. He was judge of the judicial district that included Berks, Lehigh, and Northhampton
Counties, Pennsylvania. J. WHITE, supra note 60, at 200.

269. Id.
270. Banks lost the election to David R. Porter by a vote of 136,504 to 113,473. HISTORY

OF CRAWFORD COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 132 (1885). After leaving public office, Banks spent
the rest of his life in private practice in Reading, Pennsylvania, where he died in 1864. J.
WHITE, supra note 60, at 200.

271. Pearson served from December 5, 1836 through March 3, 1837. BIOGRAPHICAL DI-
RECTORY, supra note 267 at 125. He was not a candidate for renomination, but apparently did
run for the position in 1842 only to be defeated by William S. Garvin. Id. Garvin was the
editor of the local paper, The Western Press and had been appointed postmaster for Mercer in
1837. See generally HISTORY OF MERCER COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, supra note 49, at 18.

272. HISTORY OF MERCER COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, supra note 49, at 306.
273. Notice, The Mercer County Whig, May 26, 1846, at 2, col. 3.
274. See supra text accompanying notes 88-92.
275. This means that Pearson was a member of the state legislature during the entire time

Bingham was studying under his supervision. For three years he was chairman of the judiciary
committee. HISTORY OF MERCER COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, supra note 49, at 258.

276. Democratic Whig Meeting, The Mercer County Whig, Dec. 29, 1846, at 2, col. 5.

[Vol. 37:881



John A. Bingham

territory: "We are, moreover, irreconciably opposed to further increase of
slave territory. Our country is already suffering under the foul blot on our
political character. Let us not, therefore, add to this evil, but rather use all
lawful efforts for its removal." '277 In 1847 Stewart served as secretary of the
Whig Central County Committee.278

In 1847, Pearson was a-delegate to the Whig State Convention and a vice-
president from Mercer County who nominated the party's candidate for gov-
ernor, James Irvin. 279 At that same convention the resolutions adopted in-
cluded one opposing the acquisition of territory "for the purpose of an
extension of slavery" and indicating that if new territory was acquired "it
should not be attained by injustice, nor attended with an extension of slav-
ery.",280 In 1849, Pearson was appointed President Judge for Dauphin and
Lebanon Counties, Pennsylvania, a capacity in which he served for the next
thirty-three years.281

Both Pearson and Stewart joined the Republican party in 1856,282 as did
Bingham. Indeed, both Bingham and Stewart were elected that year as
Republicans to Congress.28 3 In endorsing Stewart's successful candidacy for
Congress, the editor of The Mercer County Whig purported to give an histor-
ical account of Stewart's beliefs: "[H]e has always occupied the position
which he now does-he is now, and has always been opposed to the exten-
sion of slavery, and to the encroachment of the Slave power." 284

Bingham's association with Stewart and Pearson is consistent with other
information that is known about him. As Charles Fairman has noted, one of
the intriguing facts of early America is the web of interrelationships between
politics, family, and friendship. 285 Facts and relationships reinforce one an-
other in a continuous web that suggests the Stewart/Pearson/Bingham con-

277. Id.
278. Notice, The Mercer County Whig, June 8, 1847, at 2, col. 3.
279. The Mercer County Whig, Mar. 23, 1847, at 1, col. 5.
280. Id. at 2, col. 1.
281. HISTORY OF MERCER COUNTY, supra note 63, at 258.
282. BIOGRAPHICAL DIRECTORY, supra note 267, at 1522.

283. Bingham and Stewart served together as members of the Thirty-fifth and Thirty-sixth
Congresses (March 4, 1857-March 3, 1861). Id. at 1758. On Stewart's denunciation of the
abandonment of the Missouri Compromise and his nomination as a Republican see, Ratifica-
tion Meeting, The Mercer County Whig, July 9, 1856, at 3, col. 1; Republican County Conven-
tion, The Mercer County Whig, July 9, 1856, at 2, col. 6.

284. The Mercer County Whig, Sept. 11, 1856, at 2, col. 3.
285. C. FAIRMAN, supra note 254, at 33 n.6: "These personal references suggest what

becomes a strong impression when one has worked in [this] period ... : that so far as public
life was concerned, America was still a rather close community-so interwoven are the as-
sociations one observes." Id. Fairman further noted that "[iln the period of Reconstruction,
each item seems to be related to everything else." Id. at 239.
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nections returned full circle to support the familiarity with the abolitionist
principles of each.

Bingham's father, Hugh, as the clerk of courts,286 undoubtedly had pro-
fessional, if not political, contacts with all of the principals: John Banks and
his two pupils, Stewart and Pearson. Both Hugh Bingham and John Banks
were active promoters of internal improvements. Stewart, Pearson, and
John Bingham were all members of the same local debating society.28 7 It
was Pearson who was said to have advised young John Bingham to attend
abolitionist Franklin College.288 All three men were, within their own com-
munities and respective times, leaders of the Whig Party who, upon the mo-
mentous developments of 1856, led their people into the newly formed
Republican Party.

All of these factors coalesce to suggest that Stewart and Pearson were at
least kindred spirits on the question of slavery and that they may have influ-
enced Bingham towards the path of abolition. Simultaneously, he received a
legal education and, upon their recommendation, was admitted to the prac-
tice of law on March 25, 1840.289

VI. LAW PRACTICE

Unlike his fellow Ohioan Salmon P. Chase, who won laurels as "the attor-
ney general for runaway slaves" 290 and "a walking arsenal of the law of
liberty, ' 29 1 Bingham's reputation as an "anti-slavery lawyer ' 292 did not
stem from the defense of fugitive slaves.29 3

Nevertheless, Bingham's very first case in the Ohio Supreme Court found
him and his partner, Josiah Scott, defending a black woman, Nancy Smith,
against the attempts of a white creditor, Joseph Jordan, to collect upon a
promissory note which Smith had apparently executed.294 Developing one

286. See supra note 62 and accompanying text.
287. HISTORY OF MERCER COUNTY, supra note 63, at 654-55.
288. Id. at 655.
289. Certificate of Admission by the Protonotary of the Court of Common Pleas. Bingham

Papers, supra note 47, roll 2, box 1, folder 6, item 556.
290. 3 A. BEVERIDGE, ABRAHAM LINCOLN 110 (1928); C. FAIRMAN, supra note 254, at

29. Chase's antislavery cases included defending an escaped slave, see C. FAIRMAN, supra note
254, at 29, and defending James G. Birney for harboring an escaped slave. See Jones v. Van
Zandt, 46 U.S. (5 How.) 215 (1847); Driskell v. Parish, 7 F. Cas. 1093 (C.C.D. Ohio 1847)
(No. 4087); Birney v. State, 8 Ohio 230 (1837);

291. HISTORY OF CINCINNATI AND HAMILTON COUNTY 173 (1894).
292. THE RECONSTRUCTION AMENDMENTS' DEBATES, at x (A. Avins ed. 1967).
293. It may be that Bingham's inactivity in antislavery cases stemmed from a lack of op-

portunity. Though Harrison County was on the route of the underground railroad, numerous
local sources reviewed by this author made no reference to any fugitive slave cases.

294. Jordan v. Smith, 14 Ohio 199 (1846). The court's opinion reprints the note which
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of those "delicious ironies' 2 95 which was to appear so often later in the Re-
publican's Reconstruction policy, Bingham and Scott 2 9 6 made use of the
Ohio statute prohibiting blacks from giving testimony in any case in which a
white person was a party.297 Because a black person witnessed the note,
Bingham and Scott interposed the statute to bar the plaintiff from proving
the note's execution. Though the court indicated that the plaintiff had a
"good cause of action, and ought to recover this money," it found that he
could not prove the execution of the note because the statute rendered his
witness incompetent.2 9 In so holding, the court rejected arguments that the
bar could be waived by the white party, indicated its intention to enforce the
statute uniformly and expressed the opinion that in every instance the stat-
ute's uniform effect had been "to prevent justice., 299 There are no recorded
cases in which Bingham represented interests adverse to those of black
people.3°o

indicates it was signed in "Smithfield," a small town in Jefferson County. Id. In 1829, Na-
thaniel Benford, a Virginia Quaker, manumitted nine slave families and made arrangements
for them to start new homes on two hundred and sixty acres about two miles outside of Smith-
field. They became the nucleus for a small black community known as "Hayti." See generally
Hunter, supra note 118, at 274-85.

Though it is likely that Nancy Smith had some connection with this colony, it should be
noted that the Ohio Supreme Court docket indicates that this case arose from Harrison and
not Jefferson County. Jordan, 14 Ohio at 199 (see docket for January Term, at 86 (1846)
(available at Ohio Historical Society, Columbus, Ohio)). One can only suppose that during the
intervening years, Smith moved from Smithfield to a location in Harrison County. By current
roads, the county line is approximately five miles from Smithfield.

295. The term is taken from an article written by Aviam Sofier. E.g., Sofier, Protecting
Civil Rights-A Critique of Raoul Berger's History, 54 N.Y.U. L. REV. 651, 669 (1979).

296. Both the reported case and the court's docket indicated only that "Scott and Bing-
ham" appeared on behalf of Smith. It is therefore impossible to tell who actually appeared for
her at trial or at argument in the state supreme court. Josiah Scott was Bingham's brother-in-
law and his first law partner. He was the elder of the two and had been admitted to the bar
before Bingham. This may explain why his name appears first.

However, in the practices of that day, it was not uncommon for one lawyer to handle the
trials and the other to do the "office" work. By all accounts, it was Bingham who did the
former and Scott who did the latter. According to Brichford, Scott did most of the firm's
probate work while Bingham's cases involved collections on notes, criminal defense, and ap-
peals. M. Brichford, supra note 12, at 22. Hence, it was most likely that Bingham tried the
case, made the initial objection, and argued the case on appeal. Jordan, 14 Ohio at 199-200.

297. Section 4 of the Act of April 1, 1807, 1807 Ohio Laws 54. The statute is reprinted in
part in the court's opinion. Jordan, 14 Ohio at 201. These laws were common in the United
States. It has been suggested that at one time Scots were similarly disqualified from giving
testimony under English law. Marcus, The Tudor Treason Trials: Some Observations on the
Emergence of Forensic Themes, 1984 U. ILL. L. REV. 675, 697 h.146, 698 (citing Reg. v.
Thomas Howard, Duke of Norfolk, 1 State Trials 957, 992, 1002, and 1027 (1571)).

298. Jordan, 14 Ohio at 204.
299. Id.
300. Compare this record with that of Abraham Lincoln. In Bailey v. Cromwell, 4 Ill. (1

Scam.) 71, 71 (1841), Lincoln argued that a promissory note made for payment of a slave was
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VII. PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATES

Bingham's professional associations included affiliations with antislavery
men of varying beliefs. For instance, John Bingham's first law partner was
Josiah Scott, 3° ' his brother-in-law30 2 and an 1829 graduate of Franklin Col-
lege.30 3 Scott was a member of the Franklin College Board of Trustees at a
time when both the majority and the most influential members of the board
were said to have been antislavery men.3" He was Bingham's co-counsel in
the successful representation of Nancy Smith.30 5 In 1834, Scott was elected
prosecutor of Harrison County.30 6 He served until 1838 when he was suc-
ceeded by Edwin Stanton.30 7

Scott was active in local community affairs. He was secretary and one of
the principal speakers for the Harrison County Temperance Society.308 He
was appointed as a member for the committee to obtain a subscription of
stock for the purpose of constructing a local turnpike. 3°9 Additionally, he
was appointed, along with his future father-in-law, Thomas Bingham, to a
Whig committee of correspondence to prepare for a Fourth of July
celebration.310

In 1839, after his term as prosecutor expired, Scott ran unsuccessfully as
the Whig candidate to represent Harrison County in the Ohio House of Rep-
resentatives. 3'1  Though the newspaper accounts of the issues in the cam-
paign are scant, it appears that the Ohio Legislature had recently enacted a

void for want of consideration since a human being could not be sold in Illinois. Later, Lin-
coln represented a slave owner seeking to keep a woman and her four children in slavery. See
Chroust, Abraham Lincoln Argues a Pro-Slavery Case, 5 AM. J. LEGAL HIsT. 299, 303-04
(1961).

301. This Josiah Scott lived in Harrison County, Ohio. His first cousin with the same
name lived most of his life in Hamilton County, Ohio. The latter served on the Ohio Supreme
Court.

302. Scott and Bingham married sisters, both daughters of Uncle Thomas Bingham. W.
SHOTWELL, supra note 99, at 178, 180, 182.

303. FRANKLIN COLLEGE 1825-1908, NEW ATHENS, OHIO 144 (Wheeling ed. 1908)
(available at the Western Reserve Historical Society, Cleveland, Ohio).

304. R. CLARK, supra note 128, at 257.
305. Jordan v. Smith, 14 Ohio 199 (1846); see also supra notes 294-99 and accompanying

text.
306. C. HANNA, supra note 99, at 111.
307. Id.
308. The Harrison Telegraph, Dec. 8, 1832, at 3, col. 1. Scott's future wife, Mary Jane

Bingham-John Bingham's cousin-was "one of the six ladies" selected to solicit members
from other countries. Id.

309. Turnpike Meeting, The Organ, June 6, 1839, at 3, col. 2.
310. Celebration Committee, The Organ, June 6, 1839, at 2, col. 1.
311. Abstract of the Official Returns of the Annual Election for State and County, The Or-

gan, Oct. 10, 1839, at 3, col. 1; To the Polls: To the Polls, The Organ, Oct. 3, 1839, at 3, col. 1
(setting forth the Whig ticket).

[Vol. 37:881



John A. Bingham

bill to assist in the return of fugitive slaves.312 The incumbent representative
had voted in favor of this law and, for that reason, one anonymous letter to
the editor called for his defeat.3 13 Another correspondent, "A Republican,"
attacked Scott's opponent primarily for that vote.314

Apparently, the opposition Democratic newspaper had accused Scott of
being an abolitionist. In addition, the newspaper alleged that he obtained
the Whig Party nomination as the result of a deal with abolitionists. In the
course of denying those charges, the correspondent stated:

It is a positive falsehood that Scott is an abolitionist; according to
the modern sense of that term. We do not make this assertion,
supposing he would be any worse, were he an abolitionist, but we
are merely stating a notorious fact.315

Attempting to outline Mr. Scott's political views, the correspondent added:
Mr. Scott is for free discussion, and for the abolitionists enjoying
their liberties guaranteed by the Constitution, as other citizens-he
is also for the right of trial by jury, and the right of petition, as
guaranteed by that instrument-he is for bank reform, and advo-
cate[s] for a sound circulating currency; as it is for his own interest,
as much as any other in [the] community.316

Along with his father-in-law, Thomas Bingham, Scott was a Harrison
County Whig Central Committee member 317 and a delegate to the Whig
state convention in 1840. 3 18 One of his fellow delegates to the convention
was abolitionist William Tingley.31 9 Scott was elected to the Ohio Senate
where he served from 1840 to 1842,320 and in 1851.321 Local histories refer
to him as one of the local bar's "prominent" members.322

Scott was the elected delegate from Harrison and Jefferson Counties to the
Ohio Constitutional Convention of 1850-185 1.323 He does not appear to
have played a prominent role in that convention and, in fact, made only one

312. "AN ACT Relating to Fugitives from labor or service from other States," 1839 Ohio
Laws 38. It repealed, at least in part, "AN ACT to prevent Kidnapping," 1831 Ohio Laws
442, which offered blacks protection against kidnapping.

313. The Organ, Aug. 29, 1839, at 3, col. 1.
314. The Election, The Organ, Oct. 3, 1839, at 3, col. 3.
315. Id.
316. Id. The new act apparently denied a jury trial when the question was whether one

was a slave or a free person. See 1839 Ohio Laws 38.
317. General Democratic Harrison Meeting in Cadiz, The Organ, Mar. 12, 1840, at 3, col. 1;

General Democratic Harrison Meeting in Cadiz, The Organ, Mar. 5, 1840, at 3, col. 1.
318. The Organ, Jan. 16, 1840, at 3, col. 5.
319. Id.; see also supra note 166 and accompanying text.
320. C. HANNA, supra note 99, at 110.
321. Id. at 113.
322. Id.
323. 1 OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION DEBATES 5 (1851).
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reported speech. 32 4 However, his recorded vote in certain roll-call votes
gives a somewhat varied insight into his attitudes on race.

Throughout the convention numerous petitions were presented calling for
equal rights for blacks, voting rights for women, and other similar reforms.
At the outset there seemed to be a disagreement as to whether such petitions
would be "received" for the convention's consideration. The initial test
arose in a case where a group of petitioners, presumably white, sought to
secure "equal rights, privileges, and protection to all ... inhabitants of this
State, without any restrictions on account of color whatever." '325 The advo-
cates of receiving the petition based their position upon the right of the peo-
ple to petition their representatives.3 26 Scott was a member of the over-
whelming majority that voted in favor of receiving the petition.32

The next issue considered was the receipt of a petition signed by twenty
black people from Warren calling for removal of "everything from the Con-
stitution that makes distinction between people on account of color., 3 28

While there was no recorded debate on this issue, it would appear that at
least twenty-four members of the convention believed that the right to peti-
tion did not extend to blacks because the petition was received by a vote of
seventy-six to twenty-four.3 2 9 Once again, Scott voted with the majority to
receive the petition.3 3 °

Scott apparently was unwilling to extend political rights to black people
and, in a vote upon a motion to strike out the word "white" as a limitation
upon voting, was recorded among the sixty-six members of the convention
rejecting such a change. 331 He also voted against a proposal to delete the
term "white" from the militia. 32

Nevertheless, on what in that day would have been termed social issues,
Scott's votes seemed to support protection of the rights of black people. The
committee report concerning schools provided that schools should be open
to "youth of all classes," but with the provision that "black and mulatto
youth shall not attend the schools for white youth, unless upon common
consent., 33 3 When a proposal was made to create an absolute prohibition

324. Id. at 340.
325. Id. at 59.
326. Id.
327. Id.
328. Id.
329. Id.
330. Id. at 60.
331. 2 OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION DEBATES 555-56 (1851). There were 12

votes cast in favor of this proposal. Id.
332. Id. at 350.
333. Id. at 18.
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against white and black children attending the same school, Scott voted with
the majority to defeat the motion. 334 He subsequently cast his vote in favor
of an unsuccessful motion to strike the entire section upon the grounds that
the current constitution made "no distinction, in this regard, between whites
and blacks and I trust that a Convention called [to] form the organic law,
will not go backward. 335

Further opportunity for debate came when delegate Jacob Blicken-
sderfer 336 of Tuscarawas County moved to insert the following into the con-
stitution: "Appropriations of money may be made for the colonization of
free people of color residing in the State with their consent, on the coast of
Africa, whenever in the opinion of the General Assembly it can be done
without causing an emigration of such persons from adjoining States. 337

In response, a countermotion was made to require the legislature "by ap-
propriate legislation as may be consistent with the Constitution of the
United States, [to] discourage the emigration of the free black population of
other States, and territories, of the Union into this State., 338 Scott joined
the majority in defeating the latter proposal. 339 He then voted in favor of
the Blickensderfer amendment. The amendment, however, was defeated by
a seventy-one to twenty-six vote.34

0

In 1854, Scott's name led the list of those calling for a public meeting to
protest against the Nebraska bill sponsored by Stephen Douglas. 341 This
meeting adopted resolutions which, while supporting the Missouri Compro-
mise, "affirm[ed] uncompromising hostility to slavery and slavery apolo-
gists. ' 342 By 1856, Scott was an active member of the anti-Nebraska fusion
movement which culminated in the formation of the Ohio Republican Party.
Furthermore, he was one of the candidates for the Republican Party's nomi-
nation for Congress, but was defeated by his brother-in-law, John
Bingham.343

334. Id. at 19.
335. Id. The speech is that of Dr. Norton Townsend, who is most remembered for having

supported women's suffrage at the same convention and for his decisive role in the election of
Salmon P. Chase to the United States Senate.

336. Blickensderfer appears to have been an 1840 graduate of Franklin College. E. BEAU-
REGARD, supra note 170, at 45.

337. 2 OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION DEBATES 597 (1851).
338. Id. at 604.
339. Id.
340. Id. at 605.
341. C. Riggs, supra note 12, at 113 (citing The Cadiz Republican, Mar. 9, 1854, at 2, col.

4).
342. Id. (citing The Cadiz Republican, Mar. 23, 1854, at 2, col. 4).
343. B. Hasin, supra note 12, at 121-22.
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It is possible that Bingham was co-counsel with David K. Cartter, 3" who
was later described as the "good friend ' 345 and "political lieutenant" of Ben-
jamin Wade. 346 By March of 1850, Bingham had moved to Cincinnati to
practice law.347 Throughout 1851, he was the law partner of William John-
ston, the unsuccessful Whig gubernatorial candidate in 1850.348 Though
Johnston's views on slavery have not been explored, he may have been co-
counsel with Salmon Chase and James Birney in at least one fugitive slave
case.349 Though he was apparently less than enthusiastic about abandoning
the Whig Party for the Republican Party,35 0 Johnston had previously been

344. The case of Leggett v. State, 15 Ohio 283, 284 (1846), lists as counsel: "Hume &
Bingham and D.K. Carter." Though this reference omits the second "t" in Cartter's name, it
appears that this is the same person and the name has been misspelled. Cartter practiced in
Stark County, Ohio. W. TAYLOR, OHIO IN CONGRESS FROM 1803 TO 1901, at 197 (1900).
This case arose from Tuscarawas County, which is adjacent to Stark County; in 1841 both
counties comprised part of Ohio's Fifth Judicial District. STATUTES OF THE STATE OF OHIO

202-03 (Swan ed. 1841).
345. H.L. TREFOUSSE, BENJAMIN FRANKLIN WADE 125 (1963).
346. C. FAIRMAN, supra note 254, at 246. Cartter played a prominent role at the 1860

Republican Convention. Not only was he a frequent participant in the debates, but it was he
who changed enough of Ohio's votes from Chase to Lincoln, securing Lincoln's nomination.
PROCEEDINGS, supra note 78, at 153. H.L. TREFOUSEE, supra note 345, at 128. Cartter later
became Chief Justice of the Supreme Court for the District of Columbia and issued the arrest
warrant for Adjutant General Thomas when President Johnson attempted to remove Stanton
as Secretary of War.

347. The exact reasons for this move are unclear. However, Cincinnati was the leading
metropolis at that time, not only in Ohio but in the entire West. As the center of commerce,
many young attorneys moved there as the place of opportunity. Advertisements announcing
his presence as a partner of one "Chambers" appeared beginning with the March 7, 1850 issue
of the Cincinnati Gazette. They continued at least through the April 4, 1851 issue.

348. Advertisements for the law firms of "Wm. Johnston, J.A. Bingham, and Alex Todd"
appear in the Cincinnati Gazette from January 7, 1851 through April 7, 1851. Johnston may
have also been a friend of Bishop Matthew Simpson. Letter from William Johnston to Bishop
Matthew Simpson (Oct. 3, 1864) (available in the Simpson Papers, Library of Congress, Wash-
ington, D.C.).

349. See J. SHUCKERS, supra note 254, at 75 n.l, but note that the name is spelled "John-
son" with a "t."

350. It was said that Johnston was "not an admirer of the school of politicians to which
many of those who were active in organizing the Republican movement belonged.... He did
not take the stump for Fremont, nor was he often heard in 1860, though holding the tenants of
the ... party and voting its ticket." "A memorial of the late Judge William Johnston by the
Bar of Hamilton County" at 11, reprinted in IN MEMORIAM. WILLIAM JOHNSTON, REMARKS
MADE AT BAR MEETING. RESOLUTIONS, REMINISCENCES, LETTERS AND NEWSPAPER No-
TICES, CINCINNATI. (1863) (available at Cincinnati Public Library, Cincinnati, Ohio). This
was apparently published by Thomas T. Heath who acted as secretary of the bar meeting after
Johnston's death, which was held on October 31, 1891. It would appear that his reluctance
might have stemmed from "a sad undercurrent of disappointment that he had not accom-
plished more in a political way." Id. Johnston was one of the leading lawyers of the State and
afterwards formed a partnership in Washington, D.C. with Thomas Corwin, a conservative
Republican.
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chosen on two separate occasions by the Governor of Ohio to go into slave
states to represent Ohio's interest.351

During this same time period, Bingham apparently became acquainted
with former Ohio secretary of state and Whig, Samuel Galloway. 352 Corre-
spondence between Bingham and Galloway reveals that they not only ex-
changed political views,35 3 but they were both involved in litigation
together. 354 As early as 1836, Galloway was an agent of the American Anti-
Slavery Society.3 55

By 1852, Bingham had moved back to Cadiz in Harrison County, Ohio.356

In 1853, he was co-counsel with former state legislator, Congressman, and
judge, Benjamin S. Cowen.3 " Though a Whig, Cowen was said to be "lean-
ing strongly to the anti-slavery side, and in 1848 he supported Van Buren,
the anti-slavery candidate, as against General Taylor the regular Whig nomi-
nee." 35 8 In 1857, Bingham and Cowen were major speakers at a Republican
Convention in Jefferson County, Ohio.359

In 1855, Bingham formed a partnership with Lewis Lewton which lasted

351. According to his former pupil, E.C. Eckley, Johnston was "twice selected by the Gov-
ernor of Ohio to contest with the ablest counsel of Virginia and Kentucky questions growing
out of the relation of slavery." Letter of October 29, 1891, reprinted in id. at 18. One of these
incidents occurred in 1846 when Johnston was sent as the representative of the Ohio Governor
Bartley to extradite Messrs. Forbes and Armitage for kidnapping a free man named Jerry
Phinney who they claimed was an escaped slave. The matter was referred to the Kentucky
Circuit Court at Franklin where the case was argued by Johnston. Id. at 11-12.

352. BIOGRAPHICAL DIRECTORY supra note 276, at 982.
353. Letter from John Bingham to Samuel Galloway (Dec. 2, 1850) (available in the Sa-

muel Galloway Papers, Ohio Historical Society, Columbus, Ohio). Bingham refers to the
Union meeting in Cincinnati and the fugitive slave law.

354. Id. The letter referred to the "Clark case" and indicates that Galloway was correct,
"payments are due this year." In the letter, Bingham indicated that according to James
Gray--one of Bingham's partners in New Philadelphia-"a very small portion" had been re-
ceived by Gray and that more was expected soon. He stated that he had told Gray to "remit"
to Galloway whatever money was received. Riggs, apparently assuming this payment was for
services rendered, concluded that Bingham and Galloway were "associated" together on the
case. C. Riggs, supra note 12, at 83. The letter, however, also referred to a "judgment" and it
is more likely that Bingham and Galloway were opposing counsel.

355. Graham, supra note 24, at 623 n.145.
356. In an 1899 interview, Bingham indicated that he moved back to Cadiz because his

"family wanted [him] to return to [the] healthful hills." M. Brichford, supra note 12, at 18.
Riggs suggested that the motives may have been financial. C. Riggs, supra note 12, at 89.
Though the exact date of Bingham's return is unknown, on September 5, 1851, the Whig
Convention nominated Bingham as its candidate for Common Pleas Judge of Harrison
County. Id. at 93-94.

357. Kirby v. State, I Ohio St. 185, 186 (1853).
358. CENTENNIAL HISTORY OF BELMONT COUNTY, OHIO AND REPRESENTATIVE CITI-

ZENS 105 (A. McKelvey ed. 1903).
359. The Black Republican, Mass Convention, The American Union (Steubenville), Sept.

23, 1857, at 2, col. 1.
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until 1863.360 Lewton was a Free-Soil Democrat who was elected Secretary
of Harrison County's "Fusion Anti-Nebraska Convention," which later led
to the formation of the local Republican Party.361

VIII. POLITICAL ASSOCIATES

John Quincy Adams won the title "Old Man Eloquent" not as President
of the United States, but in his later service as a Massachusetts Congressman
from 1831 until his death in 1848. Although Adams avoided any close iden-
tification with the abolitionists, he nevertheless became an abolitionist
hero.362 While many of his fights were directed towards the first amendment
issue of the right to petition Congress, a right Adams felt was violated by the
"gag" rule, the underlying issue was slavery.

In 1838, when the citizens of the Western Reserve sent Joshua R. Gid-
dings as their representative to Congress, "Old Man Eloquent" gained "a
staunch ally.",36 3 Giddings has been described as a "militant anti-slavery
leader"3" a characterization which seems justly deserved.365 The Western
Reserve comprised the greater portion of Gidding's district. An account of
the Reserve by an author who lived through those times is insightful: "[The

360. Bingham Papers, supra note 47, at 22. Advertisements for "Bingham and Lewton"
appear in various issues of the local newspapers. E.g., The Cadiz Republican, Mar. 19, 1856,
at 4, col. 6.

361. Fusion Anti-Nebraska Convention, The Cadiz Democratic Sentinel, July 12, 1854, at 2,
col. 3.

362. D. HOWE, THE POLITICAL CULTURE OF THE AMERICAN WHIGS 62-68 (1979).
Howe refers to Adams as a "crypto-abolitionist." Id. at 63. The depth of Adams' antislavery
attitudes is a matter of debate. However, he was careful to reserve the government's right to
abolish slavery everywhere in the event of war, and some of his own writings indicate a belief
in the right of the slaves to use violence to obtain their freedom. Consider, for example:

That nature's God command the slave to rise, And on the oppressor's head to break
the chain.

BARTLETT'S QUOTATIONS 418 (15th ed. 1982).
As early as 1837, Adams was speaking of looking forward to not just the restriction of

slavery but to its "extripation." D. HOWE, supra, at 64. He wrote an introduction to the
biography of abolitionist martyr Elijah Lovejoy. Id. Additionally, Adams personally inter-
vened to help liberate a free black woman who had been kidnapped into slavery. In 1841, he
argued before the United States Supreme Court for blacks charged in the takeover of the Span-
ish slaver Amistad. Id. In 1842, he attempted to delete the word "white" from the District of
Columbia's voting requirements. Id. Adams introduced a constitutional amendment which
would have provided for gradual emancipation of blacks by freeing all children born after July
4, 1842. Id.

363. F. WEISENBURGER, THE PASSING OF THE FRONTIER: 1825-1850, at 377 (1941).
364. Id. at 337.
365. For a modern biography of Giddings, see J. STEWART, JOSHUA R. GIDDINGS AND

THE TACTICS OF RADICAL POLITICS (1970). Congressman George W. Julian, Giddings' son-
in-law, wrote a biography entitled The Life of Joshua R. Giddings which is of interest. See W.
BUELL, JOSHUA R. GIDDINGS (1882).
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Reserve] lay not at the geographical center but at the moral center. About it
there grew up on all sides a community ... firm and fearless; ... impatient
of wrong and injustice; ... hard-headed, practical and sensible; ... liberal
and enlightened." '366

Whatever the exaggeration with respect to the constituents, there is no
exaggeration when the account is applied to Congressman Giddings. His
record as a Congressman reveals constant confrontations with others over
slavery issues. 36 7 Highlights included being censured for violating the gag
rule, resigning over the censure, and being reelected by his constituents in a
run-off election against a more conservative member of his party. 368 He
wrote the original draft, revised for final distribution by Salmon P. Chase,36 9

of the "Appeal of the Independent Democrats" protesting Senator Douglas's
bill to organize the Nebraska Territory, which led to the formation of the
Republican Party.3 70 He was a delegate to the Republican Conventions of
1856 and 1860 and instrumental in inserting key abolitionist doctrine into
the platforms.371

In 1855, Giddings was selected to be included in a book on Modern Agita-
tors. 372 That account appears to be an accurate summary of his entire Con-
gressional career:

He is intimately connected with the anti-slavery reform in
America-was one of its first and warmest supporters. He has
been so long known as an uncompromising opponent of Negro
slavery in the United States, that he is looked upon everywhere as a
kind of moral hero ....

[Ilt is his "one idea," to make war upon the institution [of
slavery).373

Adams held Giddings in high estimation3 74 and it was to Giddings that he

366. W. BUELL, supra note 365, at 16.
367. See generally J. STEWART, supra note 365, at 73.
368. Id. at 71-76.
369. J. SHUCKERS, supra note 254, at 140 n.1.
370. This appeal was signed by Senator Salmon P. Chase (Ohio) and Charles Sumner

(Massachusetts), Representatives Joshua R. Giddings (Ohio), Edward Wade (Ohio), Gerritt
Smitt (New York), and Alexander De Witt (Massachusetts). It was printed in the Washington
and New York newspapers on the 24th and 25th of January. J. SHUCKERS, supra note 254, at
147.

371. J. STEWART, supra note 365; see also G. JULIAN, supra note 365, at 136-37; PROCEED-
INGS, supra note 78, at 133-37, 142.

372. D. BARTLETT, MODERN AGITATORS: OR PEN PORTRAITS OF LIVING AMERICAN
REFORMERS 170-82 (1855).

373. Id. at 170-72.
374. For example, in 1844, Adams wrote a highly complimentary poem to Giddings in

which he spoke of Giddings as a "kindred soul" with whom he shared the object of restoring
"[o]ur countrys, and the rights of men." W. BUELL, supra note 365, at 80-81 (emphasis ad-
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bequeathed the mantel of antislavery leadership in the House.37 5 In this
role, Giddings, like Adams, sometimes acted alone and sometimes with the
support of Congress' small antislavery contingent. While Adams had been
given the title "Old Man Eloquent," Giddings was referred to as "Father
Giddings.

'3 76

Among his congressional proteges, John Bingham seems to have been the
one with whom Giddings established the same type of special relationship
that he had previously had with Adams. Bingham was an admirer of Gid-
dings prior to his own election to Congress.3 77 When Bingham was elected
to Congress, he moved to a boarding home in Washington, D.C. where Gid-
dings and Edward Wade also resided.3 7

' Bingham and Giddings, both of
whom had left their families in Ohio, apparently spent a great deal of their
social time together.3

79

Correspondence between Bingham and Giddings, both during Giddings'
congressional career and after his appointment as United States Counsel
General at Montreal, generally involved discussion of the antislavery issues
of the day.38 ° The two men, however, were not without their disagree-

ded). As Buell noted: "When these lines were written Adams was nearly seventy-eight years
of age, too sober, too wise, also too great a man to pen a page of verses in idle compliment."
Id. at 81. According to Charles Sumner, Adams told him that Giddings was "the most valua-
ble member of Congress." Id. at 193.

375. C. Huff, Politics of Idealism: The Political Abolitionists of Ohio and Congress, 1840-
1866, at 12 (1969) (unpublished doctoral dissertation, Univ. of N.C.). According to Giddings,
Adams, while on his deathbed, stated that:

he had no hope of the perpetuity of our Government, or for the liberty of our people,
except that which was based upon its return to the doctrine on which it had been
originally founded; and he exhorted me to exert whatever influence I could for the
attainment of that object.

CONG. GLOBE, 35th Cong., 2d Sess., pt. 1, at 224 (1859). According to other accounts, Adams
told Giddings: "I have more hope from you than from any other man." See D. HOWE, supra
note 362, at 179.

376. G. JULIAN, supra note 365, at 339.
377. In a letter dated December 7, 1856, Bingham praised Giddings for his "noble stand

... taken in debates on this and former occasions, in and out of Congress." Giddings Manu-
script Calendar Letters 684 (1852-1864) (available at the Ohio Historical Society, Columbus,
Ohio) [hereinafter Giddings Calender].

378. C. Huff, supra note 375, at 123; see, e.g., CONGRESSIONAL DIRECTORY, 34th Cong.,
1st Sess. 55 (1856); see also G. JULIAN, supra note 365, at 398 (Bingham and Giddings fre-
quently occupied the same quarters).

379. An example of his contact with Giddings is found in a letter Giddings wrote to his
wife which begins: "I am alone in my room. Bingham has gone home. I feel lonely." Letter
from Joshua R. Giddings to Mrs. Giddings (Mar. 14, 1856), quoted in G. JULIAN, THE LIFE
OF JOSHUA R. GIDDINGS 403 (1892). Similarly, in 1857 Bingham wrote Giddings, who had
returned to Ohio, that he missed Giddings and urged him to write often. Gidding Calender,
supra note 377, at 686-87 (letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Feb. 3, 1857)).

380. See Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Feb. 3, 1857), Giddings
Calendar, supra note 377, at 686-87 (thanking Giddings for his two letters and approval on his
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ments.3 s l It is true that Giddings was referred to by Bingham as his "coun-
sellor" '382 and he later spoke of Giddings' "good instruction touching public
service. , 3 8 1 Yet, it is also true that Giddings' developing legal attacks upon
slavery can be traced to Bingham.384

Bingham and Giddings were also associated together in the public mind.
For example, Mississippi Congressman William Barksdale believed that men
such as Bingham and Giddings would never vote for the admission of an-
other slave state.385 Both had endorsed Hinton Rowan Helper's controver-
sial book The Impending Crisis of the South.386 Bingham's renomination for
Congress in 1858 was touted by Democratic opponents as a victory for Gid-
dings. For example, the Steubenville American Union reported Bingham's
nomination as follows:

The abolition portion of the Republican party of this district (in-
cluding Joshua R. Giddings) will be highly gratified at the nomina-
tion of Mr. Bingham, their choice .... Mr. Bingham's nomination
may be regarded as a victory of the Joshua R. Giddings school of
abolitionists. Not only was the personal influence of the world-
renowned abolitionist thrown in his favor by personal appeals, but
his organ teemed with fulsome praise of Mr. Bingham's course,
which was scattered broadcast throughout the District, wherever
an abolitionist lived. He [Giddings] dictated to the people of this
district the course to pursue and it was done.... 387

Giddings' own failure to secure renomination to Congress was attributed by

vote on Minnesota); Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Feb. 1, 1861) (de-
nouncing the Crittenden Compromise and the speech of Charles F. Adams in support of it and
denouncing the press for supporting compromise: "The People are betrayed-let them
speak"); Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Aug. 27, 1861), Giddings Cal-
ender, supra note 377, at 1147; Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Dec. 19,
1861), Giddings Calendar, supra note 377, at 748.

381. At the 1856 Republican Convention, Bingham supported Justice McLean while Gid-
dings supported Fremont. C. HUFF, supra note 375, at 132 n.162 (citing and quoting portions
of a Letter from Joshua R. Giddings to George W. Julian (Jan. 18, 1863)).

382. Giddings Calendar, supra note 377, at 686 (Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua
R. Giddings (Feb. 3, 1857)).

383. Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Mar. 4, 1859) (Ohio Historical
Society, Columbus, Ohio).

384. See Graham, The 'Conspiracy Theory' of the Fourteenth Amendment, 47 YALE L. J.
371, 394-95 (1938) (suggesting that Bingham's use of the due process clause as a basis for
arguing against slavery may have antedated and influenced Giddings' subsequent use of the
same clause).

385. CONG. GLOBE, 35 Cong., 1st Sess. 1216 (1858).
386. H. HELPER, THE IMPENDING CRISIS OF THE SOUTH: HOW TO MEET IT (1857). It

was John Sherman's endorsement of this same book that was said to have denied him election
as the Speaker of the House.

387. Hon. John A. Bingham's Nomination-Abolitionism, American Union [Steubenville],
Aug. 25, 1858, at 2, col. 4.
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some to his lack of attention in his own district.3 1
8

Upon Giddings' retirement from Congress, 104 members of the House
and Senate presented him with a solid silver tea set and a walking stick with
a gold head. 389 Bingham organized the collection and was chosen to make
the presentation to Giddings.39 °

According to Giddings' son-in-law, Bingham "loved [Giddings] as devot-
edly as any son could love his own father." '391 Giddings returned these feel-
ings. In 1863 he wrote his son-in-law: "[G]o straight to Bingham for advice
and exhortation. He is a jewel of a man, true as steel." '92 It was to this
man, judged by Giddings' harsh standards to be as "true as steel," that Gid-
dings "passed the mantel of antislavery leadership he had inherited from
'Old Man Eloquent.' ,313 Indeed, Bingham was perceived by others to be
the abolitionists' leader in the Congress. When Bingham was defeated for
Congress in 1862 the Cincinnati Enquirer expressed the view of his oppo-
nents: "The fanatics in the next House will greatly miss and deplore the
defeat of their Father Bingham." 394

IX. CONCLUSION

John Bingham's background intimately acquainted him with antislavery

388. Gone Up, American Union [Steubenville], Sept. 1, 1858, at 2, col. 3 ("It probably
would have been as well for Giddings to have attended to his own business, instead of devoting
his time and energies to have Mr. Bingham nominated. Bingham is nominated but will be
defeated at the election."). Giddings' defeat at the nominating convention of his party seems
to have been a combination of more conservative elements against him and his age and failing
health. See J. SMITH, JOSHUA R. GIDDINGS 259 (1970).

389. "Presented by 104 Members of the 35th Congress To Joshua R. Giddings, As a token
of Respect for His Moral And Personal Integrity." See G. JULIAN, supra note 365, at 363
(describing the gifts in more detail and setting forth the inscription).

390. Letter from John A. Bingham to Joshua R. Giddings (Mar. 4, 1859) (available in the
Giddings Calendar, Ohio Historical Society, Columbus, Ohio). Bingham added his own trib-
ute in the formal language of that era:

[I]t is to me a matter of great gratification that so many Senators and Representatives
have thus honored themselves by this testimonial of regard for your spotless charac-
ter and strict integrity. In parting with you, allow me to thank you for your kind
words and good instructions, touching public service, public interest, and may our
Father in Heaven keep you.

Id.
391. G. JULIAN, supra note 365, at 399.
392. Letter from Joshua R. Giddings to George W. Julian (Jan. 18, 1863), quoted in C.

Huff, supra note 375, at 123.
393. C. Huff, supra note 375, at 12. In what may have been a reference to "Father Gid-

dings," the opposing Cincinnati Daily Enquirer rejoiced at the defeat of "Father Bingham"
whom it said "[tihe fanatics in the next House will greatly miss." in 1862. Cincinnati Daily
Enquirer, Oct. 17, 1862, at 2, col. 3. Bingham was, however, reelected to Congress the next
term.

394. Cincinnati Daily Enquirer, Oct. 17, 1862, at 2, col. 3.
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and abolitionist doctrine. He grew up in an antislavery environment. His
father, Hugh Bingham, was a political ally of Pennsylvania Governor Joseph
Ritner, who in the 1830's was considered to be the only strong antislavery
governor.39 His father also ran as a Whig candidate nominated at a con-
vention which opposed the extension of slavery and termed it an "abomina-
ble institution." John Bingham was apprenticed as the editor of an anti-
Mason newspaper, at a time and in an area where the Anti-Masons also
opposed slavery. The editor of that newspaper later supported the Liberty,
Free Soil, and eventually, the Republican Parties.

Both John Bingham and his uncle, Thomas Bingham, were connected
with the Associate Presbyterian Church, which was opposed to slavery.
Both in the Mercer debating society and in his study of the law, Bingham
was affiliated with John J. Pearson and William Stewart, two men who later
ran for public office on antislavery platforms and who eventually became
Republicans.

In Cadiz, where Bingham spent most of his life, there were active antislav-
ery and abolitionist advocates who were not outcasts, but rather prominent
members of society. His formal education was obtained from Franklin Col-
lege which was recognized as a prominent abolitionist school under the lead-
ership of Reverend John Walker, one of Ohio's leading abolitionists.

In his law practice, Bingham was associated with a number of individuals
who were recognized for their antislavery views. Though he did not repre-
sent run-away slaves, there is no record of his having ever been counsel in a
case that was harmful to the interests of black people. Indeed, in the only
known case in which he was involved where a black person was a party, he
defended a black woman's interest.

The Ohio district that repeatedly elected Bingham to Congress was one of
the "pioneer anti-slavery strongholds" where "evangelical abolitionists" had
been successful.39 6 In Congress, he developed a close personal and political
relationship with the man considered to be the most radical of the abolition-
ists in Congress, Joshua R. Giddings.

A then contemporary analysis of Bingham's performance in Congress sug-
gests that he was fully familiar with abolitionist doctrine and was not hesi-
tant to use it:

John A. Bingham suddenly electrified the House by the first thor-
ough-going pronouncement we have had of abolition principles
.... Mr. Bingham speaks forcibly and with the heat of suppressed
passions; he trots out anti-slavery quotations from Thomas Jeffer-

395. See supra notes 61-78 and accompanying text.
396. Graham, supra note 24, at 610-22.
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son, and seems to have all the weapon extracts of Republican argu-
ment worn smooth to his hand by long use.397

An historical inquiry into Bingham's speeches suggests his importance as
one who utilized abolitionist thought. In 1951 Jacobus tenBroek published
his influential book The Antislavery Origins of the Fourteenth Amendment.398

Relying on an analysis of Bingham's congressional speeches in 1856, 9'
1857, 400 and 1859," ° tenBroek concluded that Bingham was a synthesizer of
abolitionist thought.40 2 In Bingham's hands the "various strands of aboli-
tionist constitutional development were combined." 3 TenBroek noted:

The work of Bingham was the meeting ground, in a sense that the
work of no other individual was, of the three concepts and clauses
that came to constitute the first section of the amendment. He ac-
cepted the amalgamation of natural rights, due process, and equal
protection which had become the prime constitutional adornment
of the party platforms.'

This study of Congressman Bingham's background suggests, in Paul Di-
mond's words, that Bingham was "not a plausible candidate for framing a
constitutional amendment using code words with the narrow meanings sug-
gested by Berger." 5 This is not, however, because of contradictory claims
that Bingham was an advanced abolitionist and Negrophobic, 06 nor because

397. The N.Y. Times, Jan. 16, 1860, at 1, col. 1, quoted in C. Riggs, supra note 12, at 296
n.32.

398. This book was revised and re-issued in 1965 under the title Equal Under Law.
399. Id. at 145.
400. Id.
401. Id.
402. Id. According to tenBroek, Bingham's speeches "were the constitutional heritage of a

quarter of a century of abolitionism." Id.
403. Id.
404. Id.; see also Graham, The Early Anti-Slavery Backgrounds of the Fourteenth Amend-

ment, Part 1: Genesis, 1833-1835, 1950 Wis. L. REv. 479.
405. Dimond, supra note 7, at 482.
406. The charge of racism is not necessarily inconsistent with being an abolitionist. It was

certainly not unusual to find someone whose antislavery views were motivated by a desire to
prevent the spread of "slave power" and to protect white workers from competition rather
than any solicitude for the victims of slavery. Further, even within total abolitionist circles,
the prevalence of racism varied. For example, it has been said that many of Ohio's antislavery
leaders believed in the biological inferiority of blacks and that often their antislavery positions
"could be traced as much to dislike for the Negro as to benevolence." R. O'Dell, supra note
248, at 57. For early examples of this attitude see F. WEISENBURGER, supra note 363, at 364-
65, 378-79.

Further, having reviewed Berger's chapter on this subject, I am not sure that Professor
Dimond is correct in attributing to Berger a claim that Bingham himself was motivated by
antagonism towards blacks. Rather, as I interpret that section, Berger argues that Bingham
was a practical politician who would not have advanced his own view upon the subject if they
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of charges that Bingham was "an incurably muddle-headed thinker., 40 7

Rather, it is because additional biographical research suggests that Bingham
had a strong antislavery and abolitionist background. Whether Bingham's
"early moral fervors [were] diluted by political realities," as suggested by
Berger," or his principles compromised to accommodate his audience, as
suggested by Dimond,4° 9 or whether he remained true to his antislavery and
abolitionist background is a matter left for another study.

were unacceptable to a racially motivated majority. Berger denies accusing Bingham himself
of being "Negrophobic." Berger, supra note 42, at 286-87.

Berger's reliance upon David Donald's Politics of Reconstruction (1965), cited in R. BER-

GER, supra note 9, at 234 n.22, may be misplaced, because more recent scholarship suggests
that this was not the case. See Swift, John A. Bingham and Reconstruction: The Dilemma of a
Moderate, 77 OHIo HIST. 76 (1968).

407. The characterization is Dimond's, supra note 7, at 482, but it is an accurate summary
of Fairman's views. C. FAIRMAN, supra note 254, at 462.

408. R. BERGER, supra note 9, at 243.
409. Dimond, supra note 7, at 482.
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